## Geopolitical Features, Common Interests and the Climate Crisis: The Case of the Arctic

Geneva Paper 35/24

Lassi Heininen May 2024



#### The Geneva Centre for Security Policy

The Geneva Centre for Security Policy (GCSP) is an international foundation that aims to advance global cooperation, security and peace. The foundation is supported by the Swiss government and governed by 54 member states. The GCSP provides a unique 360° approach to learn about and solve global challenges. The foundation's mission is to educate leaders, facilitate dialogue, advise through in-house research, inspire new ideas and connect experts to develop sustainable solutions to build a more peaceful future.

#### The Geneva Papers and l'Esprit de Genève

With its vocation for peace, Geneva is the city where states, international organisations, NGOs and the academic community work together to create the essential conditions for debate and action. The Geneva Papers intend to serve this goal by promoting a platform for constructive and substantive analysis, reflection and dialogue.

#### **Geneva Papers Research Series**

The Geneva Papers Research Series is a set of publications offered by the GCSP.

The Geneva Papers Research Series seeks to analyse international security issues through an approach that combines policy analysis and academic rigour. It encourages reflection on new and traditional security issues, such as the globalisation of security, new threats to international security, conflict trends and conflict management, transatlantic and European security, the role of international institutions in security governance and human security. The Research Series offers innovative analyses, case studies, policy prescriptions and critiques, to encourage global discussion.

This series is edited by Dr. Jean-Marc Rickli, Head of Global and Emerging Risks.

All Geneva Papers are available online at: www.gcsp.ch/publications

ISBN: 978-2-88947-123-2

© Geneva Centre for Security Policy, May 2024

The views, information and opinions expressed in this publication are the author's own and do not necessarily reflect those of the GCSP or the members of its Foundation Council. The GCSP is not responsible for the accuracy of the information.

Cover photo: ADDICTIVE\_STOCK, Envato Elements

#### About the author

**Dr Lassi Heininen** is a Professor (emeritus) of Arctic Politics, Visiting Researcher at Aleksanteri Institute, University of Helsinki, the Editor of The Arctic Yearbook, the Director of Calotte Academy and Leader of UArctic TN on Geopolitics & Security. His research fields include international relations, geopolitics, security studies, environmental politics, and Northern European and Arctic studies. He chairs the GlobalArctic Mission Council of the Arctic Circle. He supervises PhD candidates, publishes widely in and acts as a reviewer for international journals and publications.



#### **Contents**

Exe	Executive summary	
I.	Introduction	5
II.	Review of the literature and theoretical background	9
III.	Common interests of Arctic states in the 2020s	13
	A. Decrease military tension, increase political stability	
	B. Transborder cooperation on environmental protection	
	C. Search-and-rescue capabilities and marine oil-spill preparedness	
	D. International cooperation on scientific research	
	E. Region building	
	F. Circumpolar cooperation among non-state actors	
	G. Economic activities and sustainable business	
IV.	State of special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance in the 2020s	21
	A. Military presence and nuclear weapons in the Arctic	
	B. Neither armed conflicts nor disputes over sovereignty	
	C. A high degree of international legal certainty	
	D. Self-government, devolution and soft forms of governance	
	E. Flexible agenda setting	
V.	Discussion	25
VI.	Conclusions	29
En	dnotes	30
Ge	Ganava Danare Dasaarch Sarias	

Geneva Paper 35/24

#### **Executive summary**

In the 1990s an inspiring sense of a "new North" became apparent in Arcticrelated ideas and innovations that indicated the end of the Cold War period. This included arms control initiatives, cross-border cooperation and sustainability "to decrease military tension and increase political stability", an emerging environmental awakening among peoples and societies, knowledge-building by indigenous peoples and the scientific community, and new forums for opening up discussions on regional development. The Arctic seemed to be in a state of constant transformation (geo)politically, economically, culturally and environmentally. Some of the outcomes of these processes were impressive, transforming the Arctic from a site of military tension to one reflecting geopolitical stability. When analysing this transformation and the ways in which the Arctic states reconstructed their geopolitical reality prior to 24 February 2022, the main conclusion is that this would not have been possible without key features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance creating suitable conditions for cross-border cooperation, which correspondingly increased stability. In the same way, cooperation, mostly in terms of fields of low political interest, was made possible because the eight Arctic states shared similar interests.

But now this transformation, which is also called the "Arctic model", is threatened by a new transformation from a state of high geopolitical stability to one characterised by the uncertainties of the climate crisis and new East-West tensions, resulting in a pause in pan-Arctic cooperation during which the Arctic Council has not been able to return to business as usual.

The focus of this Geneva Paper, based on the author's previous studies and personal observations after the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, is this new transformation and its influences on cooperation. The aim is to assess whether the fundamentals of the previously applicable common interests are still valued, and to what extent they could be used as the means for confidence-building in the region. Similarly, if the fundamentals of the special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance are in place, the question then becomes to what extent they could be interpreted as prerequisites for more widespread cooperation and geopolitical stability. Finally, if the search for stability that was the original ultimate aim of the Arctic states and Arctic indigenous peoples were still valued, would it motivate the Arctic states' governments to more effectively align their policies when facing the climate crisis. This could be done by integrating cooperation on environmental protection, climate change mitigation, and science into their climate and foreign policies. Much is clearly at stake, for if we lose the region's human-made peace dividend that was consciously built during the 35 years before February 2022, then the multiple crises and world disorder that are looming and threatening the entire world community would be much more difficult to resolve.

#### I. Introduction

In the 1990s an inspiring sense of a "new North" became apparent in terms of Arctic-related ideas and innovations that indicated the end of the Cold War. This included arms control, disarmament, and sustainability initiatives; transboundary cooperation; plans to decrease military tension and increase political stability in terms of the ideological, economic, political, and military competition of the two Cold War blocs; emerging environmental awakening due to pollution triggered by people, societies, and non-governmental organisations (NGOs); immaterial issues, such as new geopolitical factors put forward by indigenous peoples and the scientific community; and new forums for opening up discussions and building knowledge. Some of the outcomes of these initiatives are impressive: the Arctic was transformed from a site of military tension to one reflecting geopolitical stability based on functional cooperation on environmental protection and scientific research. As a result, regional stability building and related confidence-building between the former rivals that in turn led to knowledge building within the region became success stories.<sup>1</sup>

At the time, the Arctic region seemed to be "in constant transformation, (geo) politically, economically, culturally and indeed geologically", and "these rapid transformations ... [were] affecting the entire Earth system". The first transformation, from the military tension of the Cold War to geopolitical stability based on transborder cooperation on environmental protection and scientific research in the 1990s, would not have been possible without growing concern for the environment among indigenous peoples and other non-state actors, and their efforts to push the eight Arctic states to consider multilateral cooperation on environmental protection. This led to the first ministerial meeting of the Arctic states to sign the Arctic Environmental Strategy (AEPS) in 1991 and to establish the Arctic Council (AC). All this caused a shift in the security premises of the Arctic states, which would not have been possible without key features of Arctic geopolitics and security. Briefly, then, the Arctic states effectively reconstructed their geopolitical reality.

Recognised as a distinctive cooperative region, the Arctic became globalised by the growing awareness of key environmental challenges, in particular rapid global warming, and global economic interests, in particular the mass-scale utilisation of hydrocarbons. After the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the Arctic is facing the effect of great-power rivalries and new East-West tensions characterised by tit-for-tat warmongering and the related hot/proxy wars that are causing new uncertainties. A severe consequence was the decision by seven Arctic European Union (EU)/North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) member states to "temporarily paus[e] participation in all meetings of the Arctic Council and its subsidiary bodies" and put the AC's joint projects with direct Russian involvement on hold.

This was followed by the similar steps of a few other intergovernmental institutions dealing with Arctic affairs, such as the Coast Guard Forum, the Barents Euro-Arctic Council (BEAC), the Arctic Economic Council and the International Arctic Science Committee (IASC). However, the University of the Arctic – a non-governmental body – stated that collaboration between individual researchers and students' educational activities would continue. Interestingly, in an Arctic Ocean Fisheries Agreement meeting that South Korea hosted in November 2022, related issues were discussed by all the parties, including Russia.

Since February 2022, "questions about 'future Arctic cooperation' and how to maintain peace and stability in the Arctic have been asked and discussed" by individual members of Arctic thematic networks and IASC working groups, and by ad-hoc groups like the annual Calotte Academy and the Arctic Security Seminar organised by the University of South California. They were also more systematically discussed at the Geneva Centre for Security Policy's High North Talks and in the related online expert-to-expert group. Even though these modest actions have not yet produced a miracle (which none expected anyway), they remind stakeholders and interested parties of the importance of inclusive discussions among researchers, other experts and policymakers, as well as of the basic principle of the freedom of science and the independence of the scientific community.

The transfer of the AC chairmanship from Russia to Norway in May 2023 caused great interest among Arctic experts and policymakers, because on this occasion the previously used routine was not followed. The fact that the transfer went smoothly and that both Russia, as the former chair, and Norway, the new one, behaved constructively<sup>10</sup> shows that the Council's work is valued by its eight member states. Interestingly, a few months later the member states, in consultation with the six permanent participants, agreed on new guidelines that allowed the AC working groups to resume their activities.<sup>11</sup>

This indicates that the AC, which was nominated for a Nobel Peace Prize in 2016, still seems to be able to function, although it has not yet been able to return to business as usual. Furthermore, it shows that the Arctic states, including Russia and the United States, both of which have revised their Arctic policies to focus on national interests and geopolitical rivalries, and indigenous peoples' organisations are committed to continue the Council's work. It further indicates that Russia is neither aiming to withdraw from the AC, unlike from the BEAC, 12 nor to establish an alternative council on Arctic affairs with China, India and the other so-called BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa).

The fact that the unique pan-Arctic mode of cooperation has not been jeopardised by current geopolitical tensions is an important precondition for the stability of the region, as well as for the establishment of a firm principle of state sovereignty and a high degree of international legal certainty. This could be interpreted to be based on two types of factors: firstly, common interests, which the Arctic states and Arctic indigenous peoples share; and, secondly, the special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance. These factors have not only played an important role in enhancing cross-border cooperation, but still have great potential to motivate the Arctic states to differentiate to a certain extent their foreign and security policies by allowing cooperation to continue on the issues of environmental protection, climate change mitigation and the furthering of scientific research.

In my previous studies on geopolitics and security, I have discussed and analysed the Arctic region's high levels of geopolitical stability based on functional cooperation and as an applicable means of stability building, and the related common interests shared by the Arctic states, as well as special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance that act as indicators to measure the current state of cross-border cooperation. Here the focus is on the latest transformation of the Arctic, which has changed from high levels of stability and cooperation to the uncertainties of the climate crisis and new East-West tensions, as reflected by the temporary pause of the AC's work.

The aim of the present paper is to assess whether the fundamentals of common interests are still valued, and to what extent they could be used as a means for confidence-building. Similarly, if the fundamentals of the special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance are in place, it is worth examining the extent to which they could be interpreted as prerequisites for cooperation and geopolitical stability. Finally, it is worth assessing whether the "search for stability" that was the original ultimate aim of the Arctic states and indigenous peoples could still motivate these states to differentiate their policies when facing the climate crisis by integrating cooperation on environmental protection, climate change mitigation, and reflected scientific research into their climate and foreign policies. Much is at stake, for it would be a tragedy to lose the region's human-made peace dividend that was consciously built during the 35 years preceding February 2022, when multiple crises and world disorder are looming and threatening the entire world community.

The motivation behind this paper is to go into basics instead of speculating about structures, procedures and policies; i.e. the motivations of Arctic indigenous peoples when they alarmed governments by sounding a warning on the (first) environmental challenge (i.e. long-range pollution), and of the eight Arctic states when they gathered for the first time for a ministerial meeting and adopted a joint strategy for environmental protection.

The hypothesis of this study is twofold: firstly, in spite of great power rivalries and regional wars, pan-Arctic cross-border cooperation on these key issues continues to be in the interests of the states and indigenous peoples of the Arctic region, not least because these states are committed to make such a commitment by legally binding agreements. Secondly, in spite of rivalries and the attractions of and speculations about new alliances and cooperative structures for the Arctic (e.g. in the context of NATO, the Sino-Russian rapprochement or

BRICS), the question becomes whether the established structures of the AC with its working groups are more resilient and efficient. Consequently, despite emotionally and politically difficult decisions, the Arctic states might be willing to reconsider their growing animosities in other areas by differentiating their foreign and security policies to allow cooperation in the fields of environmental protection and scientific research.

After the introduction, the paper will first review the relevant literature and discuss the main theories and principles behind cooperation and common interests. Secondly, it will examine the state and relevance of the common interests that might still positively affect Arctic cooperation after the events of February 2022. Finally, the paper will conclude by discussing which common interests are still valued and applicable and which special features are still in place, and speculate if the importance of cooperation on environmental protection, scientific research and search-and-rescue activities would be enough for the Arctic states to remain committed to cooperation on the Arctic.

# II. Review of the literature and theoretical background

The fact that the AC's work was paused in early 2022 by seven Arctic states (Canada, Finland, Iceland, the Kingdom of Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the United States) is being interpreted as indicating that either the era of "Arctic exceptionalism" is over, or that a debate is needed about what is actually meant by the term; i.e. whether the region holds an exceptional position in world politics and international relations, or whether the Arctic and Arctic governance are unique by having different images and multiple features. Another interpretation is that the Arctic is again becoming a strategically significant area, and that this strategic position is added to the already full agenda of global politics. A more holistic approach is that due to different cultures, values and security policies among the Arctic states, and the lack of fruitful interrelations between them and indigenous peoples and between Western science and indigenous knowledge, there is less enthusiasm among governments either to deepen environmental protection or implement sustainable development in the region.

Exceptional or not, the current state of Arctic geopolitics and governance, based on cross-border cooperation and knowledge building, is a unique case, a kind of workshop of cooperation and governance in world politics and international relations. Theoretically, this "Arctic model" (which is also called a "Zone of Peace") is a fascinating, if not exceptional, achievement: within two decades the region was transformed from being the battleground of two major nuclear-armed powers and the site of related military tensions to a site of high geopolitical stability based on constructive cooperation across borders. Shared interests among the Arctic states and indigenous peoples were transformed into common interests among the states, with certain (special) features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance creating suitable conditions for this transformation. The outcome of the transformation was that the post-Cold War Arctic became dominated by cooperative governance structures and high levels of geopolitical stability.

No wonder that, in addition to monitoring and assessing Arctic ecosystems, <sup>18</sup> Arctic geopolitics, governance and development have been extensively discussed, described and analysed by scholars. The so-called first wave of publications included, among others, Armstrong et al. (1975), Osherenko and Young (1989), and Heininen et al. (1995), <sup>19</sup> and the second wave the Arctic Human Development Reports, the Arctic Yearbook (since 2012), Powell and Dodds (2024), Steinberg et al. (2015), the Global Arctic Handbook I and II, and Heininen and Exner-Pirot (2020). <sup>20</sup> Although this might indicate that the issue has been studied thoroughly, it can be said that the roles of common interests and special geopolitical features are rarely studied in political science literature. Among exceptions are Byers (2017), who examined interrelations between international crises and cooperation through an Arctic case study; Zagorski (2017), who described

relevant factors behind an "Arctic Consensus"; Devyatkin (2022), who argued for the restoration of pan-Arctic cooperation; and Heininen (2018), who focused on the state of Arctic-related common interests and special features.<sup>21</sup>

History matters, and lessons learned are signposts pointing towards the future. Nonetheless, sometimes those lessons are not fully integrated into policy, like for example the lessons from the 1962 Cuban missile crisis and those of the 1980s Euromissile crisis. These lessons "were ignored as anachronisms when NATO embarked on its eastward expansion on the assumption that it would no longer need to worry ... [as,] after all, Russia was permanently weakened. When Russia proved otherwise, the alliance was caught by surprise".<sup>22</sup> This statement is useful to remember as a background for the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the related US, NATO and EU member states' sanctions on Russia and military support to Ukraine. On the other hand, it makes us wonder why militarisation, warmongering and a fear of images of "the enemy" are widely spread in EU member states' societies, and why such images are transferred onto a particular "enemy" (whoever or whatever that may be).23

According to the theory of political realism (i.e. one of the mainstream international relations theories), closer relations between states looking for safety, such as an alliance or bloc, are more often driven by a shared fear than shared interests. This is mostly explained by the perceived anarchy of the international system<sup>24</sup> and the basic antagonism between great powers and blocs with conflicting interests. The domination of state centrism and great-power rivalry in the Westphalian state system sounds sensible and logical when states emphasise their role and power. In foreign and security policies, "the electoral mandate is to advance a country's core interests of peace, security, and welfare by cooperating with others and, when necessary, asserting them against others". Consisting of interests and values, foreign policy faces the challenge of how to deal with conflicting objectives, because "there is no hierarchy between values and interests ... [that] face up to moral dilemmas and trade-offs of interests".25

One of these factors is competitive and conflicting interests between foreign and security policy goals and the reality of domestic politics, as exemplified by the following statement regarding the United States: "The most urgent and significant threat to American security and stability stems ... from within ... [when] deep political divisions make it difficult - or even impossible - to design and implement a steady foreign policy".26

In the post-colonial age of globalism, with grand environmental challenges and the growth of interest in indigenous peoples' knowledge systems, state-centrism that results in the neglect of other (non-state) actors is no longer enough. It is neither holistic or inclusive, nor the most feasible way to effectively manage global environmental challenges.<sup>27</sup> Foreign and security policies, world politics, and international relations are about people and civil societies (consisting of active citizens, civil society organisations and their activities), democracy and



freedom of expression, and increasingly about the environment. If a state wishes to be counted as a legitimate actor in world politics, it cannot only be driven by its own concerns and take care of its national interests, but must be involved in cooperation on environmental protection and climate change mitigation.

"Fear, rather than courage, still dominates among Western leaders" and plays an important role when anyone's human security is threatened, e.g. indigenous peoples in the Arctic trying to protect their food sovereignty. No wonder that war and conflict are more often studied in international relations than (cross-border) cooperation. Whereas the new realism argues that "anarchy is what states make of it", major powers also cooperate with each other and with smaller states if they have shared interests and if cooperation does not damage their position in the global power balance. Consequently, in international relations, instead of "fear", "cooperation" becomes a motivating factor, indicating that constructive action is an intangible basis for human existence and capability.

Cooperation in international politics would not be possible without the willingness to cooperate across borders and a joint understanding of its benefits, such as an achieved state of trust and confidence among parties. To identify a shared/common interest (here a "shared interest" is interpreted as the starting point of the process of entering into a state of "common interest" that promotes "interdependence") between two or more states or other parties is neither automatic nor pre-determined (particularly if the parties are asymmetric, such as a small state and a major power), but the outcome of a process that attempts to achieve mutual benefit for all parties concerned.

A constructivist approach argues that the "forces of power go beyond material; they also can be ideational of discursive", 30 indicating that transferring words into a speech act could make "power based on knowledge" parallel to "power based on force", i.e. "knowledge is power, power means politics". 31 Nonetheless, this would not happen without decreasing rivalry and increasing cooperation and interdependence as the goals of the age of globalism. 32 Great powers/ states that used to be rivals, such as the Soviet Union and the United States in the Cold War period, and China and the United States in the early 21st century, are required to be open minded and willing to cooperate in certain fields of low political value instead of resorting to coercion. For this to happen, special means and methods are needed if the aim is to rebuild confidence between the parties after a rivalry/conflict is over and to resolve disagreements.

The most efficient means for this is considered to be "functional cooperation" in the fields of low politics, based on the theory of functionalism. Sport, culture, science and environmental protection are such fields, which are not sensitive, unlike national security and military policy, which are fields of "high politics". If successful cooperation is achieved in one field, it would be possible to expand cooperation step by step into other fields. The main aim is to (re)build confidence between former rivals and bring back mutual trust. There are a few successful examples of functional cooperation in the Cold War



period, such as the Soviet Red Army Chorus concerts in the United States, the so-called US "Ping-Pong Diplomacy" towards the Peoples' Republic of China, and European economic cooperation. Among recent examples are the "Winter Olympic Games Diplomacy" between the North and South Korea in 2018, and the mitigation of climate change as a common concern between China and the United States despite Sino-US great-power rivalry.

The idea of this spillover effect is to "become more embedded in an integration process, the benefits of cooperation and the costs of withdrawing from cooperative ventures increase". Similarly, mutual trust – either based on cooperation or confidence-building measures – must be earned by deeds and slowly implemented, and then functional cooperation would be allowed to function as a means for stability and peace building. Nonetheless, this is neither pre-determined nor immediate, because it requires the parties to be willing to differentiate out fields of low politics as having more potential for cooperation than those of high politics, resulting in "practical cooperative arrangements [which] can be achieved by 'agreeing to disagree' and not to reach a consensus on ultimate truth claims".

To search for a common ground for cooperation on certain issues, such as arms control, instead of isolating or letting a former rival/enemy isolate itself was a lesson that the West learned regarding the question of how to treat Russia after the split-up of the Soviet Union. Even in the middle of great-power rivalry and due to several parallel crises, the mantra of the Age of Globalism is called to mind (rather than widely implemented) that parties must "co-operate where we can, disagree where we must", as Australia's prime minister Anthony Albanese has put it. 36

Following on from this, the Arctic states, supported by indigenous peoples and civil societies, managed to create a new geopolitical reality that transformed the state of Arctic geopolitics and security from one characterised by (military) tension to one of geopolitical stability and peace building, much according to the principle of functionalism. Consequently, this guided the Arctic states' governments to prefer cooperation instead of fear in order to keep Arctic affairs out of the world of crises and great-power competition. Hence, it is valid to state that the Arctic states reconstructed their geopolitical reality for the future <sup>37</sup> even while strengthening their states' sovereignty and security according to the dictates of their respective foreign and security policies. This process has also been mutually beneficial both locally and regionally for the region's inhabitants and their well-being, and globally for the entire planet. But currently this reality faces real challenges for the first time because of the events in Ukraine of late February 2022.

## III. Common interests of Arctic states in the 2020s

In the Arctic, the most vivid example of cross-border cooperation is efforts to protect the environment. Due to increased environmental awareness and pressure by indigenous peoples and NGOs, the environment became an agenda item of the Arctic states when the Arctic Environmental Protection Strategy was signed in 1991. As a result, environmental protection became both the first common interest among these states and a stabilising factor in Arctic geopolitics and security, allowing the first conscious step toward political stability to be taken. As a successful narrative, this supports the main assertion of the theory of functionalism by increasing the political stability of the region, if not yet achieving mutual confidence between the parties via cross-border cooperation.

So far, the process has been cumulative as more common interests appeared and were developed further by the priorities of the Arctic states' national policies, such as good governance, economic activities and international cooperation. It has also been resilient, bypassing several challenges that constituted tests of its resilience, such as the following ones:

- The Russian expedition to the shelves of the Arctic Ocean in 2007 to collect sediments required by the rules of the United Nations Convention of the Law of the Seas (UNCLOS) was interpreted by Canada and the Kingdom of Denmark as an act of provocation aiming to conquer new territories.
- Following that was the splitting up of the "Arctic Eight" into the "Arctic Five" by the Ilulissat Ministerial in 2008, when the eight Arctic states were divided into two groups: the five littoral states of the Arctic Ocean according to the original geographical definition of the Arctic Canada, the Kingdom of Denmark, Norway, Russia and the United States which were looking for a combination of geopolitical stability and national interests, and agreed that there is no need for an Arctic treaty, <sup>39</sup> and the three remaining states Finland, Iceland and Sweden which were not invited because they were not littoral states. Indigenous peoples' organisations that formed the AC's permanent participants were also not invited, which raised suspicions among them as to the real motives of the Arctic Five. <sup>40</sup>
- The Russian annexation of Crimea in 2014, which caused the cancellation of two AC working groups meetings, can be seen as the third test.
- The fourth one was the failure to issue a substantial AC joint declaration in May 2019, due to US opposition to attempts to include the concept of "global warming" in the text. Instead, a short Rovaniemi Declaration and more substantial Rovaniemi Statement by the chair that included language on climate change mitigation were adopted.<sup>41</sup>

 In contrast, the resilience of the AC was finally undermined by the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022, which caused seven member states to temporarily pause the Council's work.

Interestingly, some emerging signs of hesitation were seen in the policies of the Arctic states even before February 2022 in response to AC suggestions to agree on stricter environmental regulations and deepen mutual cooperation on tackling climate change. This started at the Arctic Five's summits (in 2008 in Ilulissat, Greenland, and in 2009 in Chelsea, Canada), and continued in the Arctic states' political inability to make the hard decisions needed to mitigate climate change. Behind the hesitation is an ambivalence with regard to or the paradox of Arctic development in the Arctic states' policies when "searching for a balance between environmental protection and economic activities". This has become one of the recent trends of Arctic states' approaches based on a comprehensive analysis of coded national policies. 42

As mentioned earlier, the aim of this paper is to assess whether the Arctic states still value the fundamentals of common interests after February 2022, and to what extent these common interests could be used as means for confidence-building, on the one hand and, on the other hand, whether the fundamentals for the special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance are still in place. We will start with the issue of common interests.<sup>43</sup>

#### A. Decrease military tension, increase political stability

In terms of the constructivist approach, <sup>44</sup> and with the watchword "decrease military tension and increase political stability" as the ultimate aim, the Arctic states were consciously searching for stability and reshaping their geopolitical reality after the Cold War period. This effort became a success story, and is interpreted here as reflecting the most fundamental common interest of the Arctic states, which is also shared by indigenous peoples and civil societies.

Obviously, after February 2022 this aim is no longer shared by all eight Arctic states, because it would require mutual confidence and a joint agreement among all of them. The current situation is the opposite of this aim, because the Russian invasion of Ukraine caused an energy crisis in Europe (many EU member states depended heavily on Russia for their energy needs) and radically increased mistrust between Russia and the other seven Arctic states, all of whom were members either of the EU or NATO or both organisations, which imposed sanctions on Russia and give financial and military aid to Ukraine.

To exclude this interest from the list of common interests would in the longer run mean a significant shift in the Arctic states' security premises – regionally, nationally and internationally – and that an "Arctic model" would lose its backbone. Globally, this would mean one more uncertainty, in addition to the growing arms race and expired arms control agreements.

#### B. Transborder cooperation on environmental protection

At the end of the 1980s, Arctic indigenous peoples, civil societies, NGOs, and a few scientists and scholar became concerned over the state of the Arctic ecosystem due to long-range air and water pollution, in particular radioactivity after the Chernobyl nuclear accident and the sinking of nuclear-powered submarines. This northern dimension of global "environmental awakening" started a unique political process among the Arctic states and these non-state actors to protect the Arctic environment. Based on the coordinated Finnish initiative on Arctic environmental protection and Russian president Mikhail Gorbachev's well known Murmansk speech, Which proposed an initiative to establish "a system to monitor the state of the natural environment and radiation safety" in cooperation with the Nordic countries, the eight Arctic states gathered in a ministerial for the first time in 1991 to sign the Arctic Environmental Protection Strategy (AEPS).

As a result, cross-border cooperation on environmental protection became the first officially recognised shared interest among the Arctic states, and between them and indigenous peoples, civil societies and NGOs. Furthermore, based on the AEPS and its working groups, in particular the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), the AC was established in 1996, with environmental protection and sustainable development as the main pillars of its work.<sup>49</sup>

Similarly, "nuclear safety" became a metaphor for pan-Arctic cooperation when Norway, Russia and the United States established the less well-known Arctic Military Environmental Cooperation (AMEC) in 1996 as "a forum for dialogue and joint activities among U.S., Russian, and Norwegian military and environmental officials ... [which] addresses Arctic environmental issues that are related to our militaries' unique capabilities and activities", covering issues such as radioactive and other hazardous waste management, nuclear safety, and monitoring technologies. This was followed by the Marine Biodiversity Agreement, which was signed by the Arctic states in 2023 and included language on "the removal of radioactive waste from the Arctic Ocean", which was one of the focuses of the Russian AC chairmanship. 51

Correspondingly, as parties of the United Nations Framework for Climate Change, the Arctic states are committed to the main target of the Paris Agreement in 2015 to keep the rise of global average temperature below 1.5 degrees Celsius (although it is widely accepted that this will not be achieved) and to the decisions of the later conferences of the parties. Because on average the Arctic region is warming three to four times faster than the globe<sup>52</sup> and large land areas of it, in particular Siberia, are covered with permafrost, it is very important to collect data measured on the ground on climate-induced ecosystem changes and CO2 emissions, and share it so that proper climate modelling can be done.<sup>53</sup>

Finally, if (long-range) pollution was the main reason that convinced governments to act and nuclear safety the trigger, the climate crisis could be an urgent motivation for the necessity to act both locally and globally and cooperate on environmental protection, particularly amid the ever-increasing numbers of ecological catastrophes such as the rapid melting of glaciers, sea ice and permafrost; the outbreak of large and widespread wildfires; and the spread of radioactive waste. It could also be a potential way to rebuild confidence between Russia and the EU and NATO Arctic states. Interestingly, bilateral cooperation on the environment (e.g. water) continues between Finland and Russia, and Norway and Russia. Nonetheless, the Arctic states seem neither to be ready to adopt strict environmental regulations governing the utilisation of Arctic resources, nor to deepen cooperation on climate change mitigation, nor to put stricter regulations in place to limit the mass-scale utilisation of resources such as offshore oil and gas.

## C. Search-and-rescue capabilities and marine oil-spill preparedness

Because the Arctic region mostly consists of the Arctic Ocean and its sub-seas, which are shipping routes and sites of oil and gas drilling, search-and-rescue capacity and oil-spill preparedness are crucial for these ecosystems and their inhabitants. Following on from this, cooperation in these fields is clearly a common interest that the Arctic states all share, as the Agreement on Cooperation on Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue (signed in 2011) and Marine Oil Spill Preparedness and Response (signed in 2013) indicate.

Since the signing of these agreements there is even greater need for search-and-rescue capacity in these sparsely populated areas, as well as for marine-pollution preparedness in vast sea areas as a result of two major phenomena. On the one hand, there is increasing off-shore oil and gas drilling (in the Norwegian part of the Barents Sea) and on-shore gas drilling (on the Yamal Peninsula), while also of concern is the related sea traffic on northern sea routes, such as tankers carrying liquified natural gas from the Yamal Peninsula<sup>54</sup> and cruise ships carrying tourists into the Arctic seas, as well as aviation above the Arctic Ocean (Western airlines are increasingly using the North Pole routes due to the sanctions imposed on Russia). On the other hand, the Arctic region is facing the growing frequency of unpredictable storms and other extreme weather conditions due to global warming.

Because so far none of the Arctic states has withdrawn from two agreements (AMEC and AMAP) that are currently in force, the parties are committed to abiding by their requirements. More importantly (cross-border) cooperation on search-and-rescue capacity is a reality in the Bering Strait and Barents Sea areas, <sup>55</sup> where the authorities of all signatory states are prepared, committed and obliged to do their best when their services are needed, if necessary in cooperation with one another.

#### D. International cooperation on scientific research

Science is another forerunner of transborder Arctic cooperation and one of the Murmansk speech's initiatives, which recognised scientific research as a common interest "to improv[e] governance and avoid ... conflict in Arctic regions". <sup>56</sup> In the spirit of this speech, the Arctic states negotiated and adopted the legally binding Agreement on Enhancing International Arctic Scientific Cooperation in 2017. <sup>57</sup>

The AC ministerials usually result in language that states the "importance of strengthening and sustaining Arctic scientific research and long-term observations and ... that scientific data together with traditional knowledge ... will continue to provide the basis for informed decision making". Correspondingly, in October 2018 the Second Arctic Science Ministerial expressed the need to strengthen, integrate, and sustain Arctic observations, facilitate access to Arctic data, and share Arctic research infrastructure. Finally, the International Arctic Science Committee described scientific cooperation as a success story and that it has "always been the common interest of the Arctic states in protecting the Arctic environment and in facilitating the sustainable development of the region". 59

Similarly, indigenous researchers, as members of the epistemic community, have played an important role in fact finding and applying knowledge for decisions-making, e.g. in the successful negotiations on the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. 60 Indigenous knowledge of the Arctic environment, which is used by indigenous peoples across the entire region, has shown its strengths by inspiring "transdisciplinarity" in Western science. 61

Due to the pause of the work of the AC and its working groups, official cooperation with Russian research institutions is not allowed whereas individual researchers are allowed to cooperate, which has made it very difficult to share and process data among members of the pan-Arctic research community. The consequences of this are dire, such as "opportunity cost of immense proportions ... [and the] waste of intellectual resources". A break of two years caused by the political obstacles put in place by Western governments means less joint monitoring and assessment are carried out by international research teams, and a lack of data on the impacts of climate change on permafrost, in particular in Siberia, and other Arctic ecosystems, and on the health and well-being of indigenous peoples who live in the polar north.

According to the 2017 agreement on scientific cooperation (which was not negotiated under the auspices of the AC), each party is committed to the "Entry and exit of persons, equipment, and material .... Access to research infrastructure and facilities .... Access to research areas [and] ... Access to data". But possibly more significantly in the context of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, it does not "provide an explicit provision for its termination, withdrawal or suspension because of armed conflict or heightened political tensions".65

Therefore, because none of the parties has withdrawn from the agreement, the pause in cooperation in other areas should not impact scientific cooperation. Finally, for the Arctic states the 2017 agreement would be the easiest way to use science as "an entry point" to restart pan-Arctic cooperation, 67 and, correspondingly, Arctic research would continue to support geopolitical stability. 68

#### E. Region building

In terms of modern region building with states as major actors, the Arctic states have successfully built up the post-Cold War perception of the Arctic as a distinctive region through the establishment of new regional organisations and forums. Together with environmental and scientific cooperation, region building has been a useful way for these states to maintain firm state sovereignty over their parts of the region, take back control of their northernmost regions and respond to uncertainties. <sup>69</sup>

No wonder, therefore, that, according to the *Arctic Human Development Report*, 70 region building became one of the main trends of post-Cold War Arctic international relations and geopolitics in the early 21st century and an important foundation of the "Arctic model". This hegemonic state approach was continued by the five littoral states to the Arctic Ocean and its resources, even though it created – implicitly if not explicitly – a dividing line between some of the Arctic states, and between them and the Arctic indigenous peoples.

The current state of a firm state sovereignty, legitimised by UNCLOS and the various related legally binding agreements, dominates Arctic geopolitics and the region's security situation and plays "a crucial role in controlling the region" (but not according to the indigenous peoples' expressed interests). As a result, the Arctic states no longer feel that they need to implement region building, which was once a prevailing policy. Interestingly, this conclusion could have already been reached a few years ago when the Arctic states' mission was to take back control of their Arctic territories. Instead, the pause in pan-Arctic cooperation gives more space for (non-Arctic) European and Asian powers to use their observer position at the AC, which also strengthens state centrism in the region.

#### F. Circumpolar cooperation among non-state actors

Indigenous peoples, environmental NGOs and civil societies intensified their awareness of the developing environmental crisis and turned it into a motivation for circumpolar cooperation, which became another trend of the early 21st century and another important element of the "Arctic model". This was in addition to Nordic cooperation across the North Atlantic and the development of regionalisation, in particular in the Barents Sea and Bering Strait areas. Parallel to this, several sub-national governments are increasingly cooperating, e.g. Akureyri, Alaska, Greenland, Lapland and the Sakha Republic.<sup>72</sup>

**(%)** 

It might be hard to recall now how indigenous peoples and multiple civil societies that were increasingly concerned about their environment and interested in people-to-people cooperation once managed to press the Arctic states' governments to make a conscious paradigm shift on the issue of security.<sup>73</sup>

After February 2022, this kind of uncontrollable non-state cooperation or paradiplomacy is no longer among the Arctic states' common interests, unlike the region's non-state actors who, after experiencing the benefits of cooperation and stability, still value circumpolar cooperation, in particular due to the urgent need for climate change mitigation.

#### G. Economic activities and sustainable business

In order to develop the regional infrastructure of the post-Cold War Arctic and transform traditional livelihoods to allow them to participate in mass-scale resource utilisation and transport, cooperation on economic and business activity and trade was considered a shared interest among Arctic states and was prioritised in their national Arctic policies. As a result, the Arctic Economic Council was established in 2014 "to enhance and develop sustainable, long-term business relations and economic activities".

As a result, increasing numbers of related stakeholders appeared such as business actors (state-owned enterprises, transnational corporations), the related sovereign wealth funds (e.g. Government Pension Fund of Norway, National Welfare Fund of Russia) and platforms for greater business relations (e.g. Arctic Circle, Arctic Frontiers). These mostly benefit export and business elites and national economies, particularly because of the growing need for energy, mostly from hydrocarbons, due to the post-COVID-19 reopening and the energy crisis in Europe caused by the war in Ukraine.

Global warming, habitat degradation, community well-being and sustainable development increasingly became factors in a growing consciousness of the dangers of the warming planet, resulting in growing pressure to ban offshore oil drilling. In the same way, the trend that stressed the environment and better social governance encouraged the production of clean technology for the green transition, even though it requires the establishment of new mines (both in the Arctic and elsewhere on the planet) to produce the strategic minerals needed to manufacture zero-emission technology. Along these lines, the UN Climate Change Conference COP28 could be interpreted as a success for multilateralism, after delegates agreed "to move away from using fossil fuels in energy systems" and eliminate the methane emissions associated with fossil fuels production, indicating a commitment to make slow progress towards emissions cuts and ultimately a state of zero emissions.<sup>74</sup>

Nonetheless, it is hard to imagine that either the United States or Russia, which are among the three biggest oil producers, would decrease oil and gas drilling or that Norway would stop offshore oil drilling in the service of climate

change mitigation. The hesitation of Arctic oil states to make hard decisions on climate change mitigation would mean that CO2 emissions would continue to accelerate global warming and cause more melting of sea ice, glaciers, etc. Essentially, what became known as the "Arctic paradox" was in the making. To Unless the Arctic states are willing to adopt strict environmental regulations for mass-scale utilisation and decide to prioritise environmental protection and climate change mitigation in their policies, oil and gas drilling will continue, resulting in the high costs of global warming, extreme weather conditions, environmental risks and worsening community health. In contrast, the green transition would be a perfectly viable option for the Arctic states, because plenty of wind, hydro and solar power is available during Arctic summers.

Even though economic activities and business will continue to comprise one of the largest interests of the Arctic states, this would not necessarily mean more economic cooperation among them, nor that economic cooperation would be used as a means to increase interdependence, even though geopolitical stability is widely seen to be good for business.

# IV. State of special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance in the 2020s

Five of the most important special features of the post-Cold War Arctic's geopolitics, security and governance are discussed here. These features have acted as prerequisites for the transformation of relationships among the Arctic states from being characterised by military tension to widespread links reflecting political stability and cross-border cooperation, and later, together with common interests, formed a solid platform on which to maintain geopolitical stability and extend cooperation into new fields.

This did not yet mean that a paradigm shift had occurred in the military-based national security of the Arctic states, or that the Arctic could be defined as a "security community" based on the traditional concept explored by Deutsch et al.<sup>77</sup> But it did mean the adoption of a broader list of security premises among these states, moving their perceptions of security from ones based on the importance of "unilateral, competitive, national military security"<sup>78</sup> to a mutually held perception based on the concept of "comprehensive security" that included cross-border cooperation and environmental protections as key security-building factors.<sup>79</sup> Furthermore, there was a potential to move perceptions of the Arctic as a cooperative region characterised by geopolitical stability towards becoming a regional security complex if the new security premises were adopted into national security paradigms.<sup>80</sup>

In the 2020s, although the Arctic attracts more strategic attention and military presence is increasing, the region is a sideshow of great-power rivalries, such as the one between China and the United States and the new East-West conflict. Similarly, there is no direct connection to the hot wars currently under way in Ukraine and Gaza, as there was with the US involvement in Afghanistan and Iraq in the early 21st century. More importantly, the Arctic is one of the main fronts of the climate crisis and the ongoing ecological catastrophe caused by pollution, global warming and loss of biodiversity. Based on this reality, the following sub-sections will assess whether the fundamentals of the five special Arctic features are still in place after February 2022, and if so, to what extent they could be interpreted as prerequisites for cooperation and geopolitical stability as they used to be, and if not, whether this is mostly due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine or other factors.

#### A. Military presence and nuclear weapons in the Arctic

The original nature of the Cold War-era great-power confrontation was characterised mainly by the deployment of nuclear weapons systems by the Soviet Union/Russian Federation and the United States. These heavyweight military

systems, which had – and still have – more or less the same basic structure, elements and mission, as well as the same potential environmental and societal impacts, <sup>81</sup> were constructed during the Cold War as a result of the principle of global "nuclear deterrence", i.e. the capability of carrying out a second strike in retaliation for an initial nuclear attack. This gave the two major nuclear weapons powers the capability to attack all strategic targets in the Northern Hemisphere in a nuclear strike.

This had (and still has) major consequences for the Arctic region because of its geographical location at the top of the globe, which made it the region over which the shortest aerial distance between Eurasia and North America ran. Equally, the Arctic Ocean, with its multi-year sea-ice covering, constituted a hiding place for strategic nuclear submarines carrying ballistic missiles. All this made the Arctic geostrategically and militarily important for the two Arctic nuclear weapons states.<sup>82</sup>

Whereas the concepts of cooperation, high geopolitical stability and environmental challenges dominate current political and security statements, there has been a notable scarcity of nuclear disarmament and arms control talks and measures. Hence, extremely powerful nuclear weapons systems are still deployed in the region, nuclear-power submarines carrying nuclear-armed ballistic missiles are constantly patrolling under the surface and sea ice of the Arctic Ocean, and nuclear-armed bombers are to be found in the air space of the vast region. Once Russia and the United States/NATO had increased their military presence globally and modernised their weapons systems, the Arctic reverted to being a "strategically significant region", and least due to the deployed nuclear weapons systems. The wider context of this status was an increase of national economic interests and activities in the region, partly due to the melting of the sea ice (which opened up new and shorter trade routes), the Sino-US great-power rivalry, and growing East-West tensions, partly due to the Russian annexation of Crimea in 2014 and the ongoing invasion of Ukraine.

Following from this, the nature of the Arctic military presence is much the same as in the Cold War past, because global nuclear deterrence is still the main premise of the nuclear weapons system. This situation could get worse if one of the major nuclear weapon states attempted to obtain technological superiority over its rival(s) by trying to eliminate or make ineffective their retaliatory/second strike capability.

#### B. Neither armed conflicts nor disputes over sovereignty

Another special feature is that there are neither armed conflicts nor serious disputes over state sovereignty/national borders between the Arctic states. Despite questionable (or even rash) interpretations of serious maritime disputes, with a risk of them being escalated, this has been the geopolitical reality since the Second World War. Most of the disputes over the legal status of maritime

Arctic borders have been resolved by finalised or tentative agreements on delimitation arrangements between the Arctic littoral states, except the dispute over the Beaufort Sea between Canada and the United States and over the northern sea route between the United States and Russia.<sup>85</sup>

After February 2022, the situation is much the same. Final decisions have not yet been made about the submissions of Canada, the Kingdom of Denmark and the Russian Federation to UNCLOS on the Arctic Ocean basin shelves outside the applicants' exclusive economic zones. But the long-term dispute over the Hans Island and Lincoln Sea between Canada and the Kingdom of Denmark was resolved by the agreement signed in 2022.

Nevertheless, there are two conditional reservations. We should start with great-power rivalry and regional hot wars occurring outside the Arctic region, which could have consequences in the Arctic if they spread geographically, as has been discussed for decades. If the nuclear weapons deployed in the Arctic were to be used, as is their mission, or to manifest their capabilities for global deterrence, it would mean that a military escalation will be extended into the Arctic region.<sup>87</sup> The second reservation is the possibility of asymmetric environmental conflicts, e.g. between a state and an indigenous people or NGO activists, over how to use the region's land and waters, and who is allowed to utilise its rich natural resources.<sup>88</sup> This kind of conflict could be accelerated by the climate crisis and the mass-scale utilisation of Arctic resources, rather than by the war in Ukraine or one in, for example, the Middle East.

All in all, neither armed conflicts nor disputes over state sovereignty are to be found in the Arctic, even after February 2022, and most disputes between the Arctic states have been resolved. Hence, the region has, so far, "remained largely insulated from wider geopolitical issues".<sup>89</sup>

#### C. A high degree of international legal certainty

Closely related to the previous factor, a high degree of international legal certainty in the Arctic is based on three developments. The first is the agreed parameters of state sovereignty and the legal status of the entire region that are now in place, and that the Arctic states constantly reaffirm in ministerial declarations/statements<sup>90</sup> their commitment to the AC's role in establishing "peace, stability, [and] constructive cooperation in the Arctic". The second is the increasing recognition of indigenous peoples' (human) rights by international frameworks, in particular the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP),<sup>91</sup> as well as in general.<sup>92</sup> The third is that, as a consequence of the two preceding factors, there is "no need to develop a new comprehensive international legal regime to govern" the Arctic.<sup>93</sup>

UNCLOS, which all the Arctic states except the United States have ratified, governs maritime sovereignty and the utilisation of marine resources.<sup>94</sup> Equally, two other global agreements on the use of the Arctic seas – the Fisheries

Agreement on the Central Arctic Ocean, which was signed in 2018, and the High Seas Treaty to preserve marine biodiversity, which was signed in 2023 – together with the three legally binding agreements signed by the Arctic states mentioned above, which are in force, constitute solid grounds for maintaining geopolitical stability and enhancing cross-border connections and cooperation. They, together with the Norwegian and Russian agreement over the Barents Sea, which is one of the world's most resilient fisheries co-management agreements, 95 could also guarantee a high degree of international legal certainty in the Arctic after February 2022.

### D. Self-government, devolution and soft forms of governance

An important transformation of the indigenous peoples' position from self-determination towards one of self-government, such as the Home Rule Government of Greenland, has made soft forms of governance a special feature of Arctic governance. Self-government has played an important role in materialising and enhancing shared interests between the Arctic states and Arctic indigenous peoples. As the Arctic Human Development Report has formulated, the value of this lies in the "development of innovative political and legal arrangements that meet the needs of the residents of the circumpolar North without rupturing the larger political systems in which the region is embedded". 97

After February 2022 this feature is still among the tools of Arctic governance, and thus still valid. Interestingly, Finland and Sweden are still hesitating to ratify the International Labour Organization's Convention 169, which Norway has done; and the legal self-governing status of Greenland is being tested as an "ambiguous action space" between the United States and the Kingdom of Denmark due to the growing US interests in this special entity. 98 None of these issues has anything to do with the war in Ukraine or interrelations between Russia and the other Arctic states.

#### E. Flexible agenda setting

The famous footnote of the Ottawa Declaration states that "The Arctic Council should not deal with matters related to military security", 99 which means that the Arctic states had consciously separated sensitive areas or fields of high politics from those of low politics. By doing so, those fields became "less affected by tensions or breakdowns in other areas", and agendas could be set based on common interests and shared problems. 100

Once the AC's work was paused after February 2022, this was not relevant, whereas when the Council's work is restarted, this kind of procedure can potentially be used. It allows the Arctic states to deepen cooperation and broaden the AC's scope into new areas of interest when necessary.

( September 1997)

#### V. Discussion

This Geneva Paper's main aim is to assess whether specific common interests of Arctic states are still valued and applicable; and whether the fundamentals of the special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance are still in place and can be recognised as potential prerequisites for transborder cooperation and stability. Correspondingly, the paper's hypothesis is that, in spite of great-power rivalries and the war in Ukraine, cross-border Arctic cooperation in certain fields and in the AC's work will be continued. Finally, the paper assesses whether, due to the mutual benefits of cooperation on environmental protection, scientific research and search-and-rescue capabilities, the Arctic states might differentiate their foreign and climate policies by allowing this state of affairs to continue.

The most important shared interest appeared when the Arctic states determined their ultimate aim to be that of transforming the Arctic from a military theatre of the Cold War into a zone of peace using cross-border cooperation as the main means. Interestingly, the states recognised the importance of knowledge in this process, much according to the principles of constructivism, and went beyond state-centrism by recognising indigenous peoples and NGOs as relevant stakeholders when they negotiated the AEPS and when indigenous peoples' organisations were given the status of permanent participants of the AC. Since then, cooperation on environmental protection and scientific research has been dominating the state of the post-Cold War Arctic, and mutual confidence is being built among the Arctic states, including the former rivals of the Russian Federation and the United States. Consequently, these states, indigenous peoples and civil societies have been enjoying - and still enjoy - the benefits of constructive cooperation and the related geopolitical stability that results. In this way the Arctic states are successfully combining national interests and values such as environmental protection and knowledge building in their foreign and security policies.

This would not be possible without identified common interests that these states share and special geopolitical features that together comprise what is known as the "Arctic model". Indeed, if we analyse this transformation, it is obvious that the shift has been facilitated by and built on cross-border cooperation on environmental protection and scientific research, which in turn indicates shared/common interests among the Arctic states, and between them and Arctic indigenous peoples. Furthermore, cooperation between the eight states, including former rivals, was possible due to certain geostrategic and political features of the Arctic as a suitable site for transborder cooperation, which correspondingly increased the related regional (and even geopolitical) stability and supported regional development. The process has been both cumulative, as more shared interests appeared and were developed further, and resilient by passing several tests, as discussed earlier.

However, the process is not finally and fully determined, because there are possible risks that could potentially jeopardise it. The multiple global crises - ranging from the growing ecological catastrophe and great-power rivalries to pandemics, new East-West tensions and hot/proxy wars - are appearing slowly but surely in, and influencing, Arctic affairs. The transformation towards a more strategically contested Arctic was already under way prior to February 2022. Since then, an arms race and militarisation, warmongering, and new East-West tensions generating tit-for-tat responses and sanctions have dominated the political and security discourses world-wide, and increasingly there is neither tolerance nor patience for talks on cooperation, confidence-building, disarmament and peace.

Following on from this, it would seem that the Arctic states have changed their policy and security premises in terms of Arctic geopolitics and security, and that they no longer acknowledge shared interests as they used to do. Hence, the ultimate aim of decreasing military tension and increasing political stability as the first common interest is no longer valued by these states. Similarly, two other interests - region building and circumpolar cooperation - are no longer valued, because the Arctic states seem no longer to need them, while indigenous peoples, NGOs and civil societies have limited resources to continue the latter one by themselves.

The interest of economic activities is a tricky one. If the conventional wisdom that holds that trade and business build interdependence and increase stability is no longer valid, then business cooperation is neither valued nor widely used by the Arctic states. Nevertheless, this does not necessarily mean less economic activity in the Arctic region or that it would not be one of the most important interests of the Arctic states. However, at the same time the Arctic states still seem to have shared interests in certain fields. The most obvious is search-and-rescue capability and oil-spill preparedness, which are duties that authorities are generally willing to undertake when they are needed.

Another valued common interest is cooperation on environmental protection, not least because the Arctic states are committed to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change process and the COP summits' goals.

However, it is difficult to imagine that climate change mitigation would play the same important role in the Arctic states' policies as nuclear safety did in the 1990s and early 2000s. Similarly, the Arctic states do not seem to be ready for more strict environmental regulations on resource utilisation, which is not due to the Ukrainian war, but to the paradox of Arctic development.

International cooperation on scientific research as a forerunner of Arctic cooperation is still valued, although not broadly implemented, and the Arctic states are committed to the Agreement on Enhancing International Arctic Scientific Cooperation. Furthermore, it is also risky for them to leave the task to a few brave Arctic researchers who regularly communicate across the borders of the

(de)

opposing blocs, because updated data and analyses on Arctic ecosystems are also needed for regional, national and global decision-shaping and -making.

Conversely, the five special features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance can be said to be in place: the original nature of Arctic military confrontation, which aimed at achieving global nuclear deterrence is still the same. Despite new East-West tensions and hot/proxy wars, neither armed conflicts nor serious disputes over state sovereignty are present in the Arctic region. Most such disputes are being resolved, and there is an established and internationally recognised procedure for settling potential disputes that might arise due to, for example, the melting of sea ice and the resultant opening up of new trade routes. Similarly, a high degree of international legal certainty also still prevails in the region, because state sovereignty is firmly established, the various legally binding agreements are in force, and the UNCLOS rules are followed by the parties. Also, self-government and soft forms of governance are among tools of governance used in the northernmost regions of North America and Europe. Finally, while flexible agenda setting is not relevant while the AC's work is paused, it will be in place again once the Council is able to return to its normal ways of functioning.

All in all, a two-fold but partly controversial conclusion can be drawn about Arctic-related matters after February 2022. On the one hand, the Arctic states seem to be changing the premises on which their activities were based, particularly in terms of the previous ultimate aim, which was to search for stability, and hesitate to continue/restart cross-border cooperation, even on environmental protection and scientific research, the original cores of pan-Arctic cooperation. As was discussed earlier, this is because of various key changes and developments in world politics, not only the war in Ukraine. While acknowledging that the Arctic is not exceptional in international politics, the new geopolitical paradigm requires a more holistic approach to the global Arctic and deeper analysis of the cooperative, competitive and conflicting interests of major Arctic stakeholders.

On the other hand, despite this, and the alarming developments in East-West tensions and great-power rivalries, the eight states seem to highly value the work of the AC and its working groups, and are keen not to destroy the existing structure and lose the expertise that has been built up. Behind this lies the fact that 35 years of cooperation and confidence-building has exercised a strong influence by showing the benefits for the Arctic states, societies and region. And the smooth transfer of the AC chairmanship from Russia to Norway, with the priorities of the environment, climate, sustainable development and oceans, 102 and the new guidelines for the Council's working groups that allow them to resume their activities, did restore the AC's decision-making ability, even it is not yet able to return to business as usual. Interestingly, several AC observer states have paused neither their activities nor their cooperation, and are searching for more room for their participation in Arctic research and

other issues, like those related to the Fisheries Agreement, and having their own meetings, such as the North Pacific Arctic Community Meeting in Japan. 103

Following from this, it is possible to tentatively state, despite great-power rivalries, pressure to build state power and regional wars, that there are no real obstacles to the Arctic states differentiating their foreign and climate policies to allow functional cooperation in areas seen as being confined to low politics, according to the principles of functionalism. In Arctic geopolitics and governance, these include environmental protection, climate change mitigation and scientific research. Further, it is always more challenging to resume activities the longer they have been paused. Conversely, if the Arctic states are neither willing nor able to differentiate their policies in this way due to the war of attrition under way in Ukraine and the related sanctions imposed on Russia, such an approach would be interpreted either as war hysteria or the inability to make the necessary difficult political decisions, after calculating the benefits of economic activities over those of environmental protection.

To speculate, one wonders if the pause of the Council's work was thoroughly thought through in the first place in terms of its inevitable and unavoidable consequences for Arctic inhabitants and communities if updated data on Arctic ecosystems is not shared, in particular on the impacts of climate change. While seven of the Arctic states might share the belief that "Russia is no reliable partner anymore – neither for business, nor for peace", 104 the issue is whether they and Russia actually realise how much is at stake regionally, nationally and globally if the achieved benefits of cooperation and stability are lost, and previously abandoned conflicts are opened up once more, even to the extent where a new conflict front is opened up in the Arctic. 105 It is to be hoped that they will become increasingly aware that armaments, weapons, arms races, and wars supported by military-industrial complexes are always more expensive than cooperation and stability, and a military approach to ensuring a country's security is ultimately not sustainable.

Whereas clearly there is a lot to gain from reverting to an approach based on cooperation rather than conflict. No doubt that this would need, as the significant transformation of the Arctic from a site of military tension to that of cooperation showed, the necessary political will and ability to make the hard decisions and implement them that would be to the benefit of all concerned. Ultimately, if the Arctic states would like to restart pan-Arctic cooperation and rebuild mutual confidence, the easiest way is through shared, common, cooperative work on environmental protection and scientific research.



#### VI. Conclusions

The Arctic region seems to be always in a state of constant and rapid transformation that affects the entire Earth. The first significant transformation, from the military tensions of the Cold War to geopolitical stability based on cross-border cooperation, would not have been possible without growing concern among indigenous peoples, non-governmental organisations and scientists over the state of the region's environment. This led to the establishment of cooperative structures on environmental protection among the Arctic states and caused a shift in their security premises.

An efficient way of rebuilding confidence between former rivals is functional cooperation in the field of low politics. In terms of the Arctic, the most vivid example is cooperation to protect the environment from long-range air and water pollution, which became a shared interest and stabilising factor in Arctic geopolitics and security. As a result, the Arctic states, supported by indigenous peoples and civil societies, reconstructed their geopolitical reality based on their vision of a cooperative future.

When analysing the transformation and reconstruction that has taken place in the region, the main conclusion is twofold: on the one hand, the change was built on cross-border cooperation, which indicates the presence of shared/common interests among the Arctic states, and between them and Arctic indigenous peoples; and on the other hand, that certain specific features of Arctic geopolitics, security and governance were needed to form suitable conditions for cooperation, which correspondingly increases stability and supports regional development.

Recognised as a distinctive, cooperative region, the Arctic became globalised by major environmental challenges and global economic interests, in particular the mass-scale utilisation of hydrocarbons. After Russia invaded Ukraine in February 2022, the Arctic started to reflect the patterns of great-power rivalries and new East-West tensions, as the temporary pause of the Arctic Council and its working groups indicates.

The preceding section has shown that most of the shared interests and special features of Arctic governance and cooperation are still in place or can easily be revived, given the necessary political will.

Ultimately, while seven (NATO-aligned) Arctic states might share the thinking that Russia is no longer a reliable partner, they nevertheless still share with Russia the undeniable knowledge that the benefits of cooperation and stability are much, much greater than those of conflict and confrontation, and that there is a great deal more to gain for all of them, including Russia, if they go back to a situation where Arctic cooperation is a key part of their foreign and security policies. The present study reveals that there are no real obstacles to the Arctic states rediscovering the huge benefits of cooperation – except a potentially catastrophic failure of the necessary political will to do so.

Geneva Paper 35/24

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 N. Einarsson et al, (eds), Arctic Human Development Report 2004), Akureyri, Stefansson Arctic Institute, 2004.
- 2 L. Heininen et al. (eds), *Arctic Yearbook 2017: Change and Innovation in the Arctic: Policy, Society & Environment,* Akureyri, Stefansson Arctic Institute, 2017, http://www.arcticyearbook.com.
- 3 ASSW (Arctic Science Summit Week), "Integrating Arctic Research: A Roadmap for the Future", Conference Statement, Toyama, 30 April 2015 (mimeo).
- 4 Canada, Finland, Iceland, the Kingdom of Denmark, Norway, the Russian Federation, Sweden and the United States
- 5 L. Heininen, "Politicization of the Environment: Environmental Politics and Security in the Circumpolar North", in B.S. Zellen (ed.), The Fast-Changing Arctic: Rethinking Arctic Security for a Warmer World, Calgary, University of Calgary Press, 2013, pp.35-55.
- 6 Joint Statement by Canada, Finland, Iceland, the Kingdom of Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the United States, 2022.
- 7 G. Fouche, "Arctic Council under Pressure as Norway Readies for Handoff from Russia", Reuters, 28 March
- 8 N. Parlato et al., "Report from the USC-NSF Arctic Security Conference", in L. Heininen et al. (eds), *Arctic Yearbook 2022: The Russian Arctic: Economics, Politics & People*, Akureyri, Stefansson Arctic Institute, 2022, <a href="http://www.arcticyearbook.com">http://www.arcticyearbook.com</a>.
- 9 P. Dziatkowiec, "Diplomatic Deadlock in the Arctic: Science as an Entry Point to Renewed Dialogue", in L. Heininen et al. (eds), Arctic Yearbook 2023: Arctic Indigenous Peoples: Climate, Science, Knowledge and Governance, Akureyri, Stefansson Arctic Institute, 2023, <a href="http://www.arcticyearbook.com">http://www.arcticyearbook.com</a>.
- 10 A. Edvardsen, "Lavrov: The Arctic Council's Future Depends on Whether a Civilized Dialogue Can Continue", High North News, 15 May 2023.
- Arctic Council, Statement on the Occasion of the Thirteenth Meeting of the Arctic Council, Salekhard, Russian Federation, 11 May 2024.
- 12 In autumn 2023 the Russian Federation withdrew from the BEAC, because there was no real possibility of it acting as the next BEAC chair after Finland's term in office.
- 13 E.g. L. Heininen, "The Post-Cold War Arctic", in M. Finger and G. Rekvig (eds), Global Arctic: An Introduction to the Multifaceted Dynamics of the Arctic, Springer, 2022, pp.109-127; L. Heininen, "Arctic Geopolitics from Classical to Critical Approach Importance of Immaterial Factors", Geography, Environment, Sustainability, Vol.11(1), 2018, pp.171-186; L. Heininen, "Circumpolar International Relations and Geopolitics", in Einarsson et al. (eds), 2004, pp.207-225.
- M. Lagutina, "Multilateral Cooperation in the Arctic: Interests and Strategies", presentation at Winter School CIRP-2024 Veliky Novgorod, Russia, 5 February 2024; P.E. Steinberg et al. (eds), Contesting the Arctic: Politics and Imaginaries in the Circumpolar North, London, I.B. Tauris, 2015; J. Spence et al., "What Makes the Arctic and Its Governance Exceptional? Stories of Geopolitics, Environments and Homelands", in Heininen et al. (eds), 2023, pp.387-403.
- 15 S. Miller, "The Return of the Strategic Arctic", in Heininen et al. (eds), 2022.
- 16 L. Heininen et al., "Introduction: Arctic Indigenous Peoples: Climate, Science, Knowledge and Governance", in Heininen et al. (eds), 2023.
- Einarsson et al. (eds), 2004; L. Heininen, "Impacts of Globalization, and the Circumpolar North in World Politics", *Polar Geography*, Vol.29(2), 2005, pp.91-102; R. Bertelsen, "The Arctic as a Laboratory of Global Governance: The Case of Knowledge-Based Cooperation and Science Diplomacy", in M. Finger and L. Heininen (eds), *The Global Arctic Handbook*, Cham, Springer, 2018, pp.251-267, <a href="https://www.springer.com/gb/book/9783319919942">https://www.springer.com/gb/book/9783319919942</a>.
- 18 AMAP (Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme), Arctic Pollution Issues: A State of the Arctic Environment Report, Oslo, AMAP, 1997; ACIA (Arctic Climate Impact Assessment), Impacts of a Warming Arctic: Arctic Climate Impact Assessment, ACIA Overview Report, Summary, Cambridge, CUP, 2004.
- 19 T. Armstrong et al., The Circumpolar North: A Political and Economic Geography of the Arctic and Sub-Arctic, London, Methuen, 1975; G. Osherenko and O. Young, The Age of the Arctic: Hot Conflicts and Cold Realities, Cambridge, CUP, 1989; L. Heininen et al., Expanding the Northern Dimension, Tampere Peace Research Institute, Research Report No. 61, University of Tampere, 1995.

- 20 Einarsson et al. (eds), 2004; R.C. Powell and K. Dodds (eds), Polar Geopolitics: Knowledges, Resources and Legal Regimes, Cheltenham, Edward Elgar, 2014; Steinberg et al., 2015; Finger and Rekvig (eds), 2022; L. Heininen and H. Exner-Pirot (eds), Climate Change and Arctic Security: Searching for a Paradigm Shift, Cham, Palgrave Macmillan, 2020.
- 21 M. Byers, "Crises and International Cooperation: An Arctic Case Study", *International Relations*, Vol.31(4), 2017, pp.375–402; A. Zagorski, "Arctic Consensus", *Arctic Herald, Information & Analytical Journal*, Vol.1(20), 2017, pp.42–47; P. Devyatkin, "Can Cooperation Be Restored?", in Heininen et al. (eds), 2022; Heininen, 2018.
- E. Rumer and R. Sokolsky, "Grand Illusions: The Impact of Misperceptions about Russia on U.A. Policy", Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Paper, 30 June 2021, https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/06/30/grand-illusions-impact-of-misperceptions-about-russia-on-u.s.-policy-pub-84845.
- 23 V. Harle, *Hyvä*, *paha*, *ystävä*, *vihollinen* Jyväskylä, Rauhankirjallisuuden edistämisseura ry & Rauhan, 1991.
- **24** J. Mearsheimer, "Parempi olla Godzilla kuin Bambi: Suurvaltojen taistelu vallasta", *Le Monde Diplomatique*, Vol. 4, 2023, pp. 13-16; *The Economist*, "Anarchy in International Politics", 25 March 2023, p. 45.
- 25 E. Lubkemeier, "Germany Matters: Berlin Must Take the Lead in Creating a Europe of Global Stature", in G. Maihold et al., German Foreign Policy in Transition, SWP Research Paper No. 10, Berlin, German Institute for International and Security Affairs, December 2021, pp.17-20.
- 26 R. Haass, "Foreign Policy Begins at Home", Carnegie Reporter, Vol.14(2), Fall 2023, pp.10-13.
- 27 A. Hurrell, "International Political Theory and the Global Environment", in K. Booth and S. Smith (eds), International Relations Theory Today, Pennsylvania, Pennsylvania State University Press, 1995, pp.129-153.
- 28 A. Wieslander, "Is This Any Way to Run a War?", discussion, Tällberg Foundation, 5 April 2023, <a href="https://www.tallbergfoundation.org">https://www.tallbergfoundation.org</a>.
- 29 S.L. Lamy et al., Introduction to Global Politics, New York and Oxford, OUP, 2013; Mearsheimer, 2023.
- **30** Lamy et al., 2013.
- 31 I. Heiskanen, "Tiedon politiikasta, kielestä ja politiikasta", *Politiikka*, Vol. 2, 1982; S. Moisio, "Geopolitiikka kamppailuna", in V. Harle and S. Moisio (eds), *Muuttuva geopolitiikka*, Tampere, Gaudeamus, 2003, pp. 93-109.
- 32 M. Albrow, *The Global Age*, Bodmin, Polity Press, 1996.
- **33** D. Mitrany, *The Functional Theory of Politics*, LSE, 1975.
- 34 Lamy et al., 2013.
- **35** T. Risse, "'Let's Argue!': Communicative Action in World Politics", *International Organization*, Vol.54(1), Winter 2000, pp.1-39.
- 36 The Economist, "Banyan: Papering over the Cracks", 11 November 2023, p.50.
- 37 Heininen, 2022.
- 38 Rovaniemi Declaration signed by the Eight Arctic Nations, 14 June 1991, Rovaniemi, Finland (mimeo).
- 39 Ilulissat Declaration, Arctic Ocean Conference, Ilulissat, Greenland, 27-29 May 2008, <a href="https://arcticportal.org/images/stories/pdf/Ilulissat-declaration.pdf">https://arcticportal.org/images/stories/pdf/Ilulissat-declaration.pdf</a>.
- **40** This provoked the Inuit Circumpolar Council to adopt and submit a special statement on their (resources) sovereignty in the Arctic known as the Inuit Declaration (A Circumpolar Inuit Declaration on Sovereignty in the Arctic adopted by the Inuit Circumpolar Council, 2009).
- 41 Rovaniemi Declaration on the Occasion of the Eleventh Ministerial Meeting of the Arctic Council in Rovaniemi, Finland, 6 May 2019, <a href="https://oaarchieve.arctic-council.org">https://oaarchieve.arctic-council.org</a>; also L. Heininen, "Arctic Super Week in May 2019: From Rovaniemi to Shanghai", Thematic Network on Geopolitics and Security blog, 29 May 2019, <a href="https://www.arcticpolitics.com/blog/">www.arcticpolitics.com/blog/</a>.
- 42 L. Heininen et al., Arctic Policies and Strategies Analysis, Synthesis, and Trends, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis and Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2020, pp.249-253; see also: DOI:10.22022/ AFI/11-2019.16175.
- 43 Heininen, 2018.
- **44** Lamy et al., 2013.
- 45 M.S. Soroos, Arctic Haze: A Case Study in Regime Formation, prepared for the Arctic Cooperation Project August 1990; AMAP (Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme), Arctic Pollution Issues: A State of the Arctic Environment Report, Oslo, 1997; A. Yablokov et al., Radioactive Waste Disposal in Seas Adjacent to the Territory of the Russian Federation, 1993 (mimeo); see also Heininen, 2013.



- 46 Interestingly, already in the 1970s there was cooperation on environmental protection based on signed treaties across the Iron Curtain. The 1973 Agreement on the Conservation of Polar Bears aims to protect the ecosystems of the polar bears' habitat within the Arctic Ocean littoral states. The 1972 US-Soviet Cooperation Agreement, as a legal root, aimed to solve "the most important aspects of the problems of the environment" (Y. Rosen, "Despite Russia's Post-invasion Isolation, Some Narrow Openings for Arctic Cooperation Remain", 5 April 2023); also, the Treaty of Spitzbergen on the archipelago of Svalbard, signed in 1920 with all Arctic states as parties, while allowing the utilisation of natural resources, requires the parties to protect the fauna and flora of the archipelago and to restore them to their earlier conditions, and prohibits the archipelago's militarisation.
- **47** M. Gorbachev, "Speech in Murmansk on the Occasion of the Presentation of the Order of Lenin and the Gold Star Medal to the City of Murmansk, 1 October 1987", Moscow, Novosti Press Agency, 1987.
- 48 Ministry of the Environment, "Background Information on the International Conference on Environmental Protection in the Arctic", Preparatory Meeting, Rovaniemi, Finland, 1989 (mimeo); Rovaniemi Declaration, 1991.
- **49** Declaration on the Establishment of the Arctic Council in Ottawa, Canada (Ottawa Declaration), 19 September 1996, <a href="https://oaarchive.arctic-council.org/items/fb29e6d2-d60c-43ca-8e46-fa7a505033e0">https://oaarchive.arctic-council.org/items/fb29e6d2-d60c-43ca-8e46-fa7a505033e0</a>.
- 50 AMEC (Arctic Military Environmental Cooperation), "Information Sheet", April 2003 (mimeo); see also L. Heininen and B. Segerståhl, "International Negotiations Aiming at a Reduction of Nuclear Risks in the Barents Sea Region", in R. Avenhaus et al. (eds), Containing the Atom: International Negotiations on Nuclear Security and Safety, New York, Lexington Books, 2002, pp.243-270.
- 51 Fouche, 2023.
- 52 UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme), The Heat Is On: A World of Climate Promises Not Yet Delivered, Emissions Gap Report 2021, <a href="https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2021">https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2021</a>; A.J. Constable et al., "Cross-Chapter Paper 6: Polar Regions", Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge and New York, CUP, pp.2022-2368, doi:10.1017/9781009325844.023.
- 53 M. Breum, "The Lack of Data from Russia May Render Arctic Climate Forecasting Meaningless", *Arctic Business Journal*, 23 January 2024.
- 54 There was an "eight-fold rise in Russian crude [oil] tankers using this path in 2023" (*The Economist*, "Oil Sales: Crude Sophistication", 9 September 2023, p.62).
- 55 Rosen, 2023; Devyatkin, 2022.
- 56 S.C. Bigras, "Arctic Science in the Common Interest", in P.A. Berkman and A.N. Vylegzhanin (eds), Environmental Security in the Arctic Ocean, NATO Science for Peace and Security, Series C: Environmental Security, 2012, pp.311-320.
- 57 Agreement on Enhancing International Arctic Scientific Cooperation, 11 May 2017, Fairbanks, United States (mimeo).
- 58 Reykjavik Declaration, Twelfth Ministerial Meeting of the Arctic Council, May 2021.
- 59 R. Volker, "Success Stories of International Cooperation in the Arctic", *Arctic Circle Journal*, 8 July 2022; see also IASC, Strategic Plan 2018-2023: Enhancing Knowledge and Understanding of the Arctic, 2018.
- 60 D. Downie and T. Fenge, Northern Lights against POPs: Combating Toxic Threats in the Arctic, Montreal, McGill-Queens University Press, 2003.
- **61** Heininen et al. (eds), 2023.
- 62 The Economist, "Science and International Politics: Frozen", 14 May 2022, p.77.
- 63 Parlato et al., 2022.
- **64** E.g. Devyatkin, 2022; Breum, 2024.
- 65 V. Konyshev, "Arctic Science Diplomacy: With or Without Russia?", Geneva Centre for Security Policy Strategic Security Analysis, September 2023.
- 66 In practice, there are "several possible ways to facilitate the Agreement's implementation", such as the 2000 Japan-Russia Science and Technology Cooperation Agreement; see A. Sergunin and A. Shibata, "Implementing the 2017 Arctic Science Cooperation Agreement: Challenges and Opportunities as Regards Russia and Japan", Yearbook of Polar Law XIV, Brill, 2022, pp.45-75.
- 67 Dziatkowiec, 2023.
- 68 ASSW, 2015.



- **69** Heininen et al. (eds), 1995.
- **70** Einarsson et al. (eds), 2004.
- 71 Heininen et al. (eds), 2020, p.251; see also: DOI:10.22022/AFI/11-2019.16175.
- 72 Among them is Euregio Karelia, which lies between three Finnish regions and the (Russian) Karelian Republic. It is a case study for efforts "to create common space for regional strategies" beyond the EU's borders; see T. Cronberg, "Europe Making in Action: Euregio Karelia and the Construction of EU-Russian Partnership", 30 March 2001 (mimeo).
- 73 L. Heininen, "Security of the Global Arctic in Transformation Changes in Problem Definition of Security", in L. Heininen (ed.), Future Security of the Global Arctic: State Policy, Economic Security and Climate, Basingstoke, Palgrave Macmillan, 2016, pp.12-34.
- 74 The Economist, "COP28 Concludes: The Long Goodbye?", 16 December 2023, pp.52-53.
- 75 E.g. T. Palosaari, "The Amazing Race: On Resources, Conflict, and Cooperation in the Arctic", GSNF Yearbook 2011: Sustainable Development in the Arctic Region through Peace and Stability, Vol. 40(4), 2012, pp.13-30.
- 76 Heininen, 2018.
- 77 K.W. Deutsch et al., *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area: International Organization in the Light of Historical Experience*, Princeton, Princeton University Press, 1957.
- 78 H. Newcombe, "Collective Security: Common Security and Alternative Security: A Conceptual Comparison", Peace Research Reviews, Vol.1(3), 1986, pp.1-8, 95-99.
- **79** UN (United Nations), *Common Security: A Blueprint for Survival*, Independent Commission on Disarmament and Security, 10 January 1982 (mimeo).
- 80 E.g. Heininen and Exner-Pirot (eds), 2020.
- 81 Interestingly, the trilateral Arctic Military Environmental Cooperation (AMEC, 2003) states that "this forum addresses Arctic Military environmental issues that are related to our unique capabilities and activities".
- 82 S. Miller, *The Maritime Strategy and Geopolitics in the High North*, September 1986 (mimeo); L. Heininen, *Sotilaallisen läsnäolon ympäristöriskit Arktiksessa Kohti Arktiksen säätelyjärjestelmää*, Tampere Peace Research Institute Research Report No. 43, Tampere, 1991; S.T. Wezeman, "Military Capabilities in the Arctic", SIPRI Background Paper, March 2012, <a href="https://www.sipri.org/publications/2012/sipri-background-papers/military-capabilities-arctic">https://www.sipri.org/publications/2012/sipri-background-papers/military-capabilities-arctic</a>.
- **83** Heininen, 2016.
- 84 Miller, 2022.
- 85 N. Bankes and T. Koivurova, "Legal Systems", in J. Nymand Larsen and G. Fondahl (eds), *Arctic Human Development Report: Regional Processes and Global Linkages*, TemaNord, 2014, pp.221-252, 567.
- 86 E.g. M. Byers, International Law and the Arctic, Cambridge Studies in International and Comparative Law, Cambridge, CUP, 2013.
- 87 E.g. The Economist, "A New Nuclear Arms Race: Oppenheimer's Nightmares", 2 September 2023, pp.47-48.
- 88 E.g. Inuit Declaration, 2009.
- 89 R. Clifford, "How Has Cooperation in the Arctic Survived Western-Russian Geopolitical Tension?", 2016, <a href="https://polarconnection.org/cooperation-arctic/">https://polarconnection.org/cooperation-arctic/</a>.
- 90 See e.g. Reykjavik Declaration, 2021; Salechard Declaration, 2023.
- 91 The UNDRIP was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 2007, and although Canada and the United States voted against adoption and Russia abstained, it has since been endorsed by all parties.
- 92 E.g. Bankes and Koivurova, 2014; Heininen et al. (eds), 2023.
- 93 Ilulissat Declaration, 2008.
- 94 E.g. Byers, 2013.
- 95 H.L. Skarpholt, "Fisheries Co-management between Norway and Russia", presentation at the Arctic Workshop for Early-Career Researchers, Tampere, 16-17 November 2023.
- 96 E.g. Ilulissat Declaration, 2008; L. Heininen et al., Arctic Yearbook 2015: Arctic Governance and Governing, Thematic Network on Geopolitics and Security & Northern Research Forum, 2015, <a href="http://www.arcticyearbook.com">http://www.arcticyearbook.com</a>; Heininen et al. (eds), 2023.
- **97** Einarsson et al. (eds), 2004.



- 98 S. Olsvig, "Greenland's Ambiguous Action Space: Testing Internal and External Limitations between US and Danish Arctic Interests", *Polar Journal*, 23 November 2022, DOI: 10.1080/2154896X.2022.2137085.
- 99 Ottawa Declaration, 1996.
- 100 M. Byers, Crises and International Cooperation: An Arctic Case Study", *International Relations*, Vol.31(4), 2017, pp.375-402.
- 101 Heininen, 2018.
- 102 Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Norway's Chairmanship Arctic Council 2023-2025", Oslo, 2023.
- 103 N. Otsuka et al., "North Pacific Community Meeting (NPARC): A Platform to Develop Asian Perspectives of the Arctic by a Variety of Experts in China, Japan and Korea", in L. Heininen et al. (eds), 2023.
- 104 M. Paul, "Russia's War and the Prospects of Arctic States Cooperation", Commentary, in Heininen et al. (eds), 2022.
- **105** See e.g. Heininen, 2022.



#### **Geneva Papers Research Series**

- No.1 2011 G. P. Herd, "The Global Puzzle: Order in an Age of Primacy, Power-Shifts and Interdependence", 34p.
- No.2 2011 T. Tardy, "Cooperating to Build Peace: The UN-EU Inter-Institutional Complex", 36p.
- No.3 2011 M.-M. Ould Mohamedou, "The Rise and Fall of Al Qaeda: Lessons in Post-September 11 Transnational Terrorism", 39p.
- No.4 2011 A. Doss, "Great Expectations: UN Peacekeeping, Civilian Protection and the Use of Force", 43p.
- No.5 2012 P. Cornell, "Regional and International Energy Security Dynamics: Consequences for NATO's Search for an Energy Security Role", 43p.
- No.6 2012 M.-R. Djalili and T. Kellner, "Politique Régionale de l'Iran: Potentialités, Défis et Incertitudes", 40p.
- No.7 2012 G. Lindstrom, "Meeting the Cyber Security Challenge", 39p.
- No.8 2012 V. Christensen, "Virtuality, Perception and Reality in Myanmar's Democratic Reform", 35p.
- No.9 2012 T. Fitschen, "Taking the Rule of Law Seriously", 30p.
- No.10 2013 E. Kienle, "The Security Implications of the Arab Spring", 32p.
- No.11 2013 N. Melzer, "Human Rights Implications of the Usage of Drones and Unmanned Robots in Warfare", 75p.
- No.12 2013 A. Guidetti et al., "World Views: Negotiating the North Korean Nuclear Issue", 47p.
- No.13 2013 T. Sisk and M.-M. Ould Mohamedou, "Bringing Back Transitology: Democratisation in the 21st Century", 36p.
- No.14 2015 H. J. Roth, "The Dynamics of Regional Cooperation in Southeast Asia", 35p.
- No.15 2015 G. Galice, "Les Empires en Territoires et Réseaux", 42p.
- No.16 2015 S. C. P. Hinz, "The Crisis of the Intermediate-range Nuclear Forces Treaty in the Global Context", 36p.
- No.17 2015 H. J. Roth, "Culture An Underrated Element in Security Policy", 40p.
- No.18 2016 D. Esfandiary and M. Finaud, "The Iran Nuclear Deal: Distrust and Verify", 44p.
- No.19 2016 S. Martin, "Spying in a Transparent World: Ethics and Intelligence in the 21st Century", 42p.
- No.20 2016 A. Burkhalter, "Définir le Terrorisme: Défis et Pratiques", 50p.
- No.21 2017 M. Finaud, "'Humanitarian Disarmament': Powerful New Paradigm or Naive Utopia?", 48p.
- No.22 2017 S. Aboul Enein, "Cyber Challenges in the Middle East", 49p.
- No.23 2019 Tobias Vestner, "Prohibitions and Export Assessment: Tracking Implementation of the Arms Trade Treaty", 28p.
- No.24 2019 Mathias Bak, Kristoffer Nilaus Tarp and Dr. Christina Schori Liang, "Defining the Concept of 'Violent Extremism'", 32p.

- No.25 2020 Cholpon Orozobekova and Marc Finaud, "Regulating and Limiting the Proliferation of Armed Drones: Norms and Challenges", 47p.
- No.26 2020 Dr Gervais Rufyikiri, "Reshaping Approaches to Sustainable Peacebuilding and Development in Fragile States Part I: Nexus between Unethical Leadership and State Fragility", 47p.
- No.27 2020 Dr Gervais Rufyikiri, "Reshaping Approaches to Sustainable Peacebuilding and Development in Fragile States Part II: Nexus between Unethical Leadership and State Fragility", 44p.
- No.28 2021 Dr Gervais Rufyikiri, "Resilience in Post-civil War, Authoritarian Burundi: What Has Worked and What Has Not?", 47p.
- No.29 2022 Kevin M. Esvelt, "Delay, Detect, Defend: Preparing for a Future in which Thousands Can Release New Pandemics", 65p.
- No.30 2023 Stuart Casey-Maslen, "International Counterterrorism Law: Key Definitions and Core Rules", 40p.
- No.31 2023 Anjali Gopal, William Bradshaw, Vaishnav Sunil and Kevin M. Esvelt, "Securing Civilisation Against Catastrophic Pandemics", 50p.
- No.32 2024 Kemal Mohamedou, "The Wagner Group, Russia's Foreign Policy and Sub-Saharan Africa", 41p.
- No.33 2024 Anila Jelesijević, "The Prospective of the Western Balkans to the EU membership: Challenges and Possible Ways Forward", 40p.
- No.34 2024 Jean-Marc Rickli and Federico Mantellassi, "The War in Ukraine: Reality Check for Emerging Technologies and the Future of Warfare", 53p.

#### **Building Peace Together**

#### **Geneva Centre for Security Policy**

Maison de la paix Chemin Eugène-Rigot 2D P.O. Box 1295 1211 Geneva 1 Switzerland

Tel: + 41 22 730 96 00 E-mail: info@gcsp.ch

www.gcsp.ch

ISBN: 978-2-88947-123-2

